RECEIVED 02-19-2020 CLERK OF COURT OF APPEA OF WISCONSIN

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS – DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2019AP1977-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GREGORY F. ATWATER,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Postconviction Relief, Both Entered in the Dodge County Circuit Court, the Honorable Martin J. De Vries, Presiding.

## BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

SUSAN E. ALESIA Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1000752

Office of the State Public Defender 17 S. Fairchild Street, 3<sup>rd</sup> Floor Madison, WI 53703 (608) 267-1774 alesias@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

STATEMENT OF FACTS
ARGUMENT8
I. Wisconsin Statute § 807.13 governs witness telephone testimony in postconviction proceedings. Because an in-person appearance would cause the trial attorney severe hardship, counsel should have been permitted to testify by telephone or video at a <i>Machner</i> hearing. The circuit court's denial of the postconviction motion without a hearing solely on the basis that the "defendant will not bring trial counsel to the hearing" was clearly erroneous
A. Wis. Stat. § 807.13 applies to witness testimony by telephone or video at postconviction proceedings9
B. The circuit court's refusal to hold a <i>Machner</i> hearing based solely on the fact that trial counsel would not appear in person was clearly erroneous

CONCLUSION20		
CASES CITED		
Burkes v. Hales, 165 Wis. 2d 585, 478 N.W.2d 37 (Ct. App. 1991)		
Sheboygan County Department of Health and Human Services v. Tanya M.B., 2010 WI 55, 325 Wis. 2d 524, 785 N.W.2d 369		
State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County, 2004 WI 58, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110		
State v. Alger, 2015 WI 3, 360 Wis. 2d 193, 858 N.W.2d 3469		
State v. Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986)13		
State v. Jenkins, 2014 WI 59, 355 Wis. 2d 180, 848 N.W.2d 786		
State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979)		
State v. Pruitt, No. 2016AP251-CR (Ct. App. August 18, 2016)11, 12		

Page 4 of 28

State v. Vennemann, 180 Wis. 2d 81, 508 N.W.2d 404 (1993)10, 11	
Town of Geneva v. Tills, 129 Wis. 2d 167, 384 N.W.2d 701 (1986)16	
STATUTES CITED	
Wisconsin Statutes	
805.15(1)	
807.13	
807.13(2)	
807.13(2)(c)	
809.23(3)	
940.20(1)	
967.088 passim	
971.04(1)	
971.14(4)	
971.17(7)(d)	
972.11	

**Brief of Appellant** 

Does Wis. Stat. § 807.13 apply to telephone or video testimony at postconviction proceedings and, if so, did the circuit court err when it denied Mr. Atwater's postconviction motion without a *Machner*<sup>1</sup> hearing solely because trial counsel, who asserted in an affidavit that it would be a "severe hardship" to appear in person, could only appear by telephone or video?

Despite trial counsel's affidavit asserting that traveling to Wisconsin from her home in Missouri for a *Machner* hearing would cause a severe hardship due to family and work responsibilities, the financial costs of traveling to Wisconsin and a medical condition that limited her ability to sit or stand for long periods, the circuit court denied the defense request that trial counsel appear by telephone or video and ordered "The *Machner* motion is denied without a hearing because defendant will not bring trial counsel to the hearing." (78, App. 105).

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Atwater does not seek oral argument or publication. The briefs will adequately address the issue raised in this case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

Case 2019AP001977 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-19-2020 Page 6 of 28

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The state filed a complaint on November 12, 2013, alleging two counts of battery by prisoners, repeater, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 940.20(1). (1). An information with the same two counts was filed on January 9, 2014. (6). On April 16, 2014, Mr. Atwater pled no contest to one count of battery by prisoner. The court imposed 2 years of probation with an imposed and stayed sentence of 18 months initial confinement and 12 months extended supervision. (25; App. 101). Mr. Atwater's probation was revoked on September 29, 2015. (29). An amended judgment of conviction adding sentence credit was entered on May 24, 2017. (44).

Although his direct appeal deadline had passed, Mr. Atwater moved to extend the deadline and filed a late notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief on February 27, 2017. In his motion to extend, Mr. Atwater asserted that he attempted to contact his trial attorney within 20 days after sentencing to inform her of his wish to appeal. Trial counsel did not respond until after the 20-day deadline for filing the notice of intent had passed. Further, trial counsel informed Mr. Atwater that she no longer worked for the State Public Defender and could not file the notice of intent. Trial counsel did not provide Mr. Atwater with any other options. (37; 41). This court granted the motion on May 12, 2017, and this appeal ensued.

Mr. Atwater filed a postconviction motion to withdraw his plea on November 26, 2018. (60). The motion alleged ineffective assistance of trial counsel,

Case 2019AP001977 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-19-2020 Page 7 of 28

and the circuit court ordered multiple rounds of briefing. (68; 69; 76; 77). On June 25, 2019, the circuit court entered an order denying postconviction counsel's request to have trial counsel testify by telephone (78). On September 25, 2019, the circuit court denied the postconviction motion without a hearing. (83).

Mr. Atwater appeals from the judgments of conviction and the order denying postconviction relief.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. Atwater was incarcerated at the minimum security John C. Burke Correctional Center. (1; 2). According to the complaint, a few months prior to his release date, Mr. Atwater carried his breakfast tray of pancakes into the dining room just before 7:00 a.m. When correctional officer (C.O.) Julie Nickel asked Mr. Atwater why he was late for breakfast he explained "I overslept and I want to eat before I go to the farm at 7:30 a.m." C.O. Nickel told Mr. Atwater "breakfast hours are listed in the inmate handbook" and he could not eat the pancakes because he arrived too late. Mr. Atwater attempted to finish his pancakes. C.O. Nickel persisted, two other C.O.s arrived in the dining room, and Mr. Atwater eventually put his tray in the dishwasher, declaring "I ate half my pancakes so fuck you all." Mr. Atwater walked back towards his cell. (1:2-3).

C.O. Nickel ordered Mr. Atwater into a holding cell but Mr. Atwater continued towards his own cell while shouting that he would not go into the holding cell. Three C.O.s followed Mr. Atwater down the hall Case 2019AP001977 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-19-2020 Page 8 of 28

towards his cell and ordered him to get into the holding cell. C.O. Nickel radioed for assistance and a fourth C.O. arrived in the hallway. Two C.O.s "began escorting" Mr. Atwater towards the holding cell. C.O. Nickel opened the holding cell door "so we could talk to inmate Atwater about his aggressive actions and negative behavior." At this point, Mr. Atwater became tense and shouted "I complied and dumped my tray man and I ain't going in that cell." Several other inmates observed this incident unfold. When Mr. Atwater stopped walking towards his cell and leaned against the wall in the hallway, a scuffle ensued as the C.O.s tried to put Mr. Atwater into the holding cell. Six C.O.s were now involved. They handcuffed tackled. restrained. and moved Mr. Atwater into the holding cell. He swung and punched at the C.O.s with open and closed hands and kicked after he was tackled to the ground. Two C.O.s injured while restraining Mr.including C.O. Nickel, whose glasses were broken when Mr. Atwater bucked her off of his back. (1:2-7).

Mr. Atwater entered a no contest plea to one of the two charged counts of battery by prisoner. (93; 25; App. 101).

Mr. Atwater filed a postconviction motion for plea withdrawal based on ineffective assistance of trial counsel. The motion alleged that trial counsel's performance was deficient when she failed to conduct investigations into two matters. First, a C.O. at John C. Burke Correctional Center who was not directly involved in the incident contacted trial counsel before Mr. Atwater entered his plea. This C.O. informed trial counsel of conduct issues regarding the C.O.s involved in the incident and told

Case 2019AP001977 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-19-2020 Page 9 of 28

trial counsel that the C.O.s violated institutional policy. The C.O. stated the video of the incident that was provided as discovery was from a different angle than the video she viewed at the institution after the incident. She further claimed that C.O. Nickel's report on the incident had to be revised at least four times and had been marked up by supervisors who instructed C.O. Nickel to add things to her report. (60:3-4).

The record confirms that trial counsel had information from the C.O. because trial counsel used this information in her sentencing argument. At sentencing, trial counsel told the court she was contacted by the concerned C.O. Counsel argued that based on this information it appeared that the C.O.s failed to follow proper procedure with Mr. Atwater and that there were concerns about their credibility. (93:46-50).

Second, the postconviction motion alleged that trial counsel had the name of an inmate eyewitness who could have provided his account of the incident. A note from trial counsel's file, and attached to the postconviction motion, confirms that trial counsel was aware of at least one inmate witness. (60:10). However, trial counsel failed to interview that inmate or investigate to determine if there were other inmate eyewitnesses. (60:2-3). The postconviction motion alleged that this inmate witness, along with three other inmate witnesses, would testify that they saw the incident and did not see Mr. Atwater initiate physical contact, resist or throw punches. (60:5-6).

The postconviction motion alleged that Mr. Atwater was prejudiced by counsel's failure to investigate because Mr. Atwater would have insisted

on going to trial had the investigations been pursued because he believed the information would have supported a self-defense claim and/or because it would have called into question the credibility of the C.O.s' descriptions of the incident. (60:3).

After the postconviction motion was filed, the circuit court ordered the parties to file briefs arguing whether or not a hearing was required. The state in its brief conceded that an evidentiary hearing pursuant to *Machner* should be scheduled. (68:1).

Postconviction counsel then filed a motion to allow trial counsel to testify by telephone (71). In that motion, counsel alleged the trial counsel no longer worked for the Office of the State Public Defender and now lived in Missouri. The costs of traveling to Dodge County (time, mileage, meals, overnight accommodations) would not be reimbursed by the State Public Defender. (71:1-2). The state objected to the telephone testimony and the court ordered additional briefing. (76; 77). After briefing, the court entered an order denying the motion to allow telephone or video testimony. (71).

Additional briefing followed regarding the necessity for an evidentiary hearing, including a request by postconviction counsel for the court to reconsider its ruling on trial counsel's testimony. (80; 81; 82). The filings included an affidavit from trial counsel. In that affidavit, trial counsel asserted:

- counsel no longer worked for the State Public Defender's Office;
- counsel was available to testify by telephone or videoconferencing;

- due to substantial family and work responsibilities, and the financial costs (none of which would be reimbursed) associated with traveling the 386 miles to Wisconsin from her home in Missouri for a *Machner* hearing, appearing in person would cause a "severe hardship";
- a medical condition for which she had been under the care of a physician limited her ability to sit or stand for long periods;
- counsel was aware of her ethical obligation to testify truthfully and could satisfy that obligation via telephone or video testimony.

(82:1-2; App. 106-107).

The circuit court denied the defense request that trial counsel appear by telephone and ordered "The *Machner* motion is denied without a hearing because defendant will not bring trial counsel to the hearing." (78, App. 105).

Case 2019AP001977 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-19-2020 Page 12 of 28

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. Wisconsin Statute § 807.13 governs witness telephone testimony in postconviction proceedings. Because an in-person appearance would cause the trial attorney severe hardship, counsel should have been permitted to testify by telephone or video at a *Machner* hearing. The circuit court's denial of the postconviction motion without a hearing solely on the basis that the "defendant will not bring trial counsel to the hearing" was clearly erroneous.

The trial court denied Mr. Atwater's postconviction motion solely on the basis that trial counsel would not appear in person. (78; 83; App. 105; 108). Because the general criminal statute regarding telephone testimony, Wis. Stat. § 967.08, does not contemplate individual witness testimony at postconviction hearings, the civil statute governing telephone and audiovisual proceedings, Wis. Stat. must be applied to the § 807.13, facts Mr. Atwater's case. The trial court's failure to apply the proper legal standard in Wis. Stat. § 807.13 was clearly erroneous. An application of the criteria in Wis. Stat. § 807.13 shows that there was good cause to allow trial counsel to appear by telephone or video. For that reason, this court should vacate the order denying the postconviction motion and remand for an evidentiary hearing where trial counsel can testify by phone or video.

A. Wis. Stat. § 807.13 applies to witness testimony by telephone or video at postconviction proceedings.

The trial court did not cite any statutory provisions when it entered its orders denying telephone testimony and denying the postconviction motion. (78; 83; App. 105; 108). There are two general provisions that reference statutory telephone proceedings: Wis. Stat. § 967.08 and Wis. Stat. § 807.13. An analysis of the language in each provision shows that Wis. Stat. § 967.08 does not govern witness testimony at postconviction hearings and therefore does not preclude a witness from appearing by phone or video at a postconviction hearing. Wisconsin Statute § 807.13 applies to witness testimony at postconviction proceedings and any request for telephone or video testimony must be evaluated pursuant to this statute.

Statutory interpretation presents a question of law this court reviews de novo. State v. Alger, 2015 WI 3, ¶21, 360 Wis. 2d 193, 858 N.W.2d 346. The purposes underlying a statute are useful in ascertaining a statute's meaning. Sheboygan County Department of Health and Human Services v. Tanya M.B., 2010 WI 55 ¶28, 325 Wis. 2d 524, 785 N.W.2d 369. The plain language and purpose of Wis. Stat. § 967.08 make clear that it is intended to address conducting full hearings by phone or video and not the question of whether an individual witness can testify remotely.

Wisconsin Statute § 967.08, entitled Telephone proceedings, appears in the general provisions of the criminal procedure section of the statutes and sets

forth "proceedings referred to in this section may be conducted by telephone or live audiovisual means, if available." The focus of the statute is clearly the types of hearings that can be conducted by phone or video as opposed to whether individual witnesses can testify by phone or video. Subsection (1) describes the role of the court reporter in telephone hearings, notes that the court's ruling at a telephone hearing "shall have the same effect as if made in open court" and sets requirements addressing public accessibility to hearings conducted by phone or video.

Subsection (2) lists which "proceedings" can be conducted by phone: initial appearances, waiver of preliminary hearings, competency hearings and jury trials; motions for extension of time and arraignments if the defendant intends to refuse to plead or intends to plead not guilty. Subsection (3) lists which "non-evidentiary proceedings" can be conducted by phone or video.

The plain language of Wis. Stat. § 967.08 clearly applies to the issue of whether an *entire hearing* can be conducted by phone or video. That is not the issue in Mr. Atwater's case. The only part of Mr. Atwater's postconviction hearing covered by phone or video testimony would be trial counsel's testimony.

Wis. Vennemann, 180 2dv. 508 N.W.2d 404 (1993), does not control the decision this case because Vennemann specifically addressed the interplay between Wis. Stat. § 971.04(1) Wis. Stat. § 967.08. and Wisconsin Statute § 971.04(1) sets forth the right of the defendant to be present. Vennemann held that a defendant does not have a right to appear in person at a non-evidentiary postconviction hearing but does have a right to be physically present at certain postconviction evidentiary hearings. *Vennemann*, 180 Wis. 2d at 93, 96.

Unlike *Vennemann*, there was no dispute that Mr. Atwater would be personally present at the postconviction hearing. Unlike *Vennemann*, there was no claim related to Wis. Stat. § 971.04(1).

The decision in *Vennemann* is also consistent with the argument that Wis. Stat. § 967.08 applies to whole proceedings rather than their component parts. The issue in *Vennemann* involved an entire proceeding — a postconviction motion hearing. The court's conclusion that Vennemann had a right to be present and that Wis. Stat. § 967.08 did not authorize his telephone appearance is in no way contrary to the proposition that it was proper to refuse to allow telephone or video testimony of trial counsel at Mr. Atwater's postconviction hearing. The issue presented in Mr. Atwater's case was neither discussed nor contemplated in *Vennemann*.

This court addressed the issue of witness telephone testimony in a jury trial in *State v. Pruitt*, No. 2016AP251-CR (Ct. App. August 18, 2016)(App. 109-117). As an unpublished opinion, *Pruitt* is not binding. *See* Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3). Furthermore, *Pruitt* is factually distinct from Mr. Atwater's case as it does not involve postconviction proceedings. Instead, *Pruitt* involved a defense witness at a jury trial. The defendant asked to have the witness appear by telephone and the circuit court agreed. This court reversed, holding that Wis. Stat. § 967.08 prohibits telephone testimony at a criminal jury trial because jury trials are not among the enumerated

proceedings. Of critical importance to the court were the particular nuances of a criminal trial "juries make their credibility determinations in part by observing the witnesses, their demeanors, and their body language. Allowing a witness to testify by telephone takes these tools away." (App. 114).

Obviously postconviction hearings are fundamentally different proceedings from criminal jury trials. As *Pruitt* noted, a reason for requiring witnesses to testify in person at a jury trial is so the jurors can "decide both the credibility of a witness and the weight to be given to his or her testimony." State v. Jenkins, 2014 WI 59, ¶75, 355 Wis. 2d 180, 848 N.W.2d 786 (Crooks, J. concurring). reasoning does not apply at a postconviction hearing where there is no jury. The reasoning certainly doesn't apply in Mr. Atwater's case, where the postconviction witness is an officer of the court who practiced in Dodge County. Presumably a circuit court judge would have the ability to assess the credibility of an attorney by viewing that attorney's testimony on a courtroom video screen or listening on the telephone.

Whatever merit the *Pruitt* court's statutory analysis may offer in the context of a criminal jury trial, applying that analysis to all postconviction hearings creates absurd results. While postconviction hearings are not included in Wis. Stat. § 967.08 as proceedings that can be conducted by phone or video, it would be absurd and unreasonable to both the state and the defendant to prohibit the circuit court from allowing telephone or video testimony postconviction. "Statutory language is interpreted...to avoid absurd unreasonable or

results." State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County, 2004 WI 58, ¶46, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110.

Page 17 of 28

If Wis. Stat. § 967.08 requires all postconviction proceedings to be conducted in person, every oral ruling, every postconviction scheduling hearing, every postconviction status hearing, every oral argument, every sentence credit motion and every legal claim, however perfunctory, could not take place by telephone or video.

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