RECEIVED 05-18-2020 CLERK OF COURT OF APPEA OF WISCONSIN

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2019AP1977-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GREGORY F. ATWATER,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN DODGE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MARTIN J. DE VRIES, PRESIDING

#### PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

The principles of forfeiture and abandonment should foreclose this Court's consideration of whether the circuit court erred when it determined that Atwater's plea withdrawal motion did not allege sufficient nonconclusory facts entitling him to relief. (R. 83:1.) Under the forfeiture doctrine, "a party who does not raise an appealable issue before the appropriate appellate tribunal forfeits it." *Tikalsky v. Friedman*, 2019 WI 56, ¶ 38, 386 Wis. 2d 757, 928 N.W.2d 502, *reconsideration denied*, 2019 WI 89, 388 Wis. 2d 656, 933 N.W.2d 32; *see also State v. Beamon*, 2013 WI 47, ¶ 49, 347 Wis. 2d 559, 830 N.W.2d 681 (recognizing that the rule of forfeiture is a rule of administration). Under the abandonment doctrine, "issues raised but not briefed or argued are deemed abandoned." *State v. Johnson*, 184 Wis. 2d 324, 344, 516 N.W.2d 463 (Ct. App. 1994).

Atwater has forfeited and abandoned any challenge he had to the circuit court's determination that postconviction motion did "not allege sufficient nonconclusory facts, that if true, would entitle the defendant to relief." (R. 83:1.) Further, this Court should decline to make Atwater's argument for him because this Court does not ordinarily develop arguments for appellants and does not "ordinarily consider arguments that are not specifically raised on appeal." State v. Goetz, 2001 WI App 294, ¶ 18, 249 Wis. 2d 380, 638 N.W.2d 386. Therefore, Atwater's failure to appeal the circuit court's finding that his plea withdrawal motion did not allege sufficient, nonconclusory facts amounts forfeiture and abandonment of this claim.4

Based on Atwater's failure to appeal the circuit court's decision concerning the sufficiency of his plea withdrawal motion, this Court should conclude that the circuit court

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In reply, Atwater may assert that the State's position on appeal regarding the insufficiency of his pleading is inconsistent with the State's concession before the circuit court that Atwater should receive an evidentiary hearing. (R. 60:3–6; 68:1.) But as this Court has recognized, the "respondent may raise any defense to an appeal even if that defense is inconsistent with the stand taken at trial." *State v. Baeza*, 156 Wis. 2d 651, 657–58, 457 N.W.2d 522 (Ct. App. 1990).

properly decided it. And if Atwater was not entitled to plea withdrawal because his motion did not allege sufficient nonconclusory facts entitling him to relief, he was not entitled to an evidentiary hearing. Sulla, 369 Wis. 2d 225, ¶ 23. Therefore, this Court need not address whether the circuit court erred when it declined to allow trial counsel to appear by telephone under sec. 807.13.

В. Section 807.13(2) does not authorize allow circuit court to testimony telephone or other audiovisual means at postconviction hearing under Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.30 and § 974.02.

Atwater contends that Wis. Stat. § 807.13(2) authorizes telephone testimony in criminal cases and that the circuit court erred when it did not allow trial counsel to testify by telephone at the *Machner* hearing. (Atwater's Br. 9–19.) The State disagrees.

Wisconsin Stat. § 807.13(2) permits a court to admit telephonic and audiovisual testimony in civil actions and proceedings:

In civil actions and proceedings, including those under chs. 48, 51, 54, and 55, the court may admit oral testimony communicated to the court on the record by telephone or live audiovisual means, subject to crossexamination, when:

- (a) The applicable statutes or rules permit;
- (b) The parties so stipulate; or
- (c) The proponent shows good cause to the court.

Wis. Stat. § 807.13(2). Section 807.13(2)(c) identifies several considerations that a circuit court may consider in assessing good cause for a witness's telephonic or other audiovisual testimony.

Section 807.13(2) does not broadly authorize circuit courts to allow telephonic testimony in any case. Rather it Case 2019AP001977 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-18-2020 Page 15 of 25

expressly limits telephonic testimony to "civil actions and proceedings, including those under chs. 48, 51, 54, and 55." A criminal action, including a postconviction proceeding, is unlike a "civil action" or a proceeding "under chs. 48, 51, 54, and 55." Section 807.13(2) is unambiguous, and based on its plain meaning, this section does not confer authority on circuit courts to take witness testimony in criminal proceedings—before, during, or after trial. State v. Grunke, 2008 WI 82, ¶ 22, 311 Wis. 2d 439, 752 N.W.2d 769 (unambiguous statutes are applied according to plain meaning of its terms).

Despite sec. 807.13(2)'s limitations to civil actions and specifically designated proceedings, Atwater nonetheless asks this Court to hold that sec. 807.13(2) allows telephonic witness testimony at a postconviction hearing in a criminal case. Atwater correctly notes that sec. 967.08 allows circuit courts to conduct certain proceedings in criminal cases by telephone. But recognizing that this section does not provide for telephonic testimony, Atwater argues that sec. 967.08 identifies what proceedings a circuit court can conduct entirely by telephone or other audiovisual means. (Atwater's Br. 10.) Relying on State v. Vennemann, 180 Wis. 2d 81, 508 N.W.2d 404 (1993), Atwater contends that sec. 967.08 does not limit a circuit court from conducting part of a criminal proceeding, including taking a witness's testimony, by telephone or video under sec. 807.13(2). (Atwater's Br. 10–11, 14.)

Atwater reads Vennemann narrowly. In too Vennemann, the supreme court stated, "We conclude that when a defendant must be physically present, sec. 967.08 does not authorize the use of a telephone in a postconviction evidentiary hearing pursuant to secs. 974.02 and 809.30(2)(h)." Vennemann, 180 Wis. 2d at 96. As the court explained, "In the design and implementation of sec. 967.08, an evidentiary hearing pursuant to secs. 974.02 and

Case 2019AP001977 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-18-2020 Page 16 of 25

809.30(2)(h) is not included in the list of judicial proceedings which may be conducted by phone." *Id.* at 96 n. 11. In reaching its conclusion, the court also "noted that sec. 967.08 applies to criminal proceedings such as the one at issue. It is distinguished from sec. 807.13, Stats., which applies to telephone proceedings in civil cases." *Id.* (emphasis added). Thus, while *Vennemann* concerned the requirements for a defendant's physical appearance at certain hearings, its analysis recognized that sec. 807.13 applied exclusively to civil actions and sec. 967.08 applied to criminal actions.

In its analysis, the supreme court noted that it created sec. 967.08 through a court order. Vennemann, 180 Wis. 2d at 96 n.11. In fact, both secs. 807.13 and 967.08 were originally promulgated together through a Wisconsin Supreme Court order in October 1987. Sup. Ct. Order, 141 Wis. 2d xiii, xiiixxxiii (eff. Jan. 1, 1988). Under the canon of statutory construction in pari materia, "statutes passed in the same legislative act on the same subject must be construed together." Waranka v. Wadena Ins. Co., 2014 WI 28, ¶ 17, 353 Wis. 2d 619, 847 N.W.2d 324. That is, where "statutes of such direct and immediate linkage are passed under identical circumstances, they must be considered in pari materia and harmonized if possible." State v. DILHR, 101 Wis. 2d 396, 403, 304 N.W.2d 758 (1981). The supreme court's recognition that sec. 807.14 applies exclusively to civil cases and 967.08 applies exclusively to criminal cases harmonizes the two statutes.

Subsequent amendments to the rules of criminal procedure incorporating sec. 807.13 by reference into specific criminal proceedings confirm the interpretation that sec. 807.13 does not generally apply to criminal proceedings. For example, a circuit court may receive telephone testimony under sec. 807.13(2)(c) from witnesses in competency hearings under Wis. Stat. § 971.14(1r)(c) and (4)(b), and in post-commitment proceedings following a determination that

Case 2019AP001977 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-18-2020 Page 17 of 25

a defendant is not guilty by reason of mental disease or defect under Wis. Stat. § 971.17(7)(d). With respect to a restitution hearing under Wis. Stat. § 973.20(13) and a postconviction hearing under Wis. Stat. § 974.06, a court may order the defendant's appearance under sec. 807.13 in lieu of an inperson appearance.

Nonetheless, relying on sec. 972.11(1), Atwater argues the circuit court had the authority to take trial counsel's testimony in his postconviction proceeding under sec. 807.13. (Atwater's Br. 14.) Section 972.11(1) provides that the rules of civil practice apply to criminal proceedings "unless the context of a section or rule manifestly requires a different construction." Section 807.13(2)'s language limiting telephone and audiovisual testimony to civil cases and certain proceedings, none of which encompass criminal cases, manifestly requires a different construction than Atwater advocates, i.e., that telephonic testimony is allowed under sec. 807.13(2). Atwater's interpretation renders meaningless the supreme court's language limiting sec. 807.13(2) to civil actions. Belding v. Demoulin, 2014 WI 8, ¶ 17, 352 Wis. 2d 359, 843 N.W.2d 373 ("Statutory interpretations that render provisions meaningless should be avoided."). And Atwater's interpretation renders as surplusage the subsequent amendments to the rules of criminal procedure that incorporated sec. 807.13 by reference into specific criminal proceedings. See State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cty., 2004 WI 58, ¶ 46, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110 (avoid surplusage).

As the State discusses, *infra* Section C., Atwater's interpretation of sec. 807.13(2) would render meaningless sec. 885.60(1), which expressly authorizes circuit courts to permit testimony through videoconferencing in criminal cases, including postconviction proceedings.

C. With certain restrictions, Wis. Stat. § 885.60(1) authorizes the circuit court to take a witness's testimony through videoconferencing in criminal cases.

Before the circuit court and this Court, Atwater has overlooked Wis. Stat. § 885.60, which provides for videoconferencing subject to certain "standards," "criteria," and "limitations" in criminal cases. Wisconsin Stat. § 885.52(3) defines "videoconferencing" as "an interactive technology that sends video, voice, and data signals over a transmission circuit so that two or more individuals or groups can communicate with each other simultaneously using video monitors." Videoconferencing does not include testimony by telephone since the later does not involve sending video signals by "simultaneously using video monitors." *Id*.

Wisconsin Stat. § 885.60(1) provides, in part, that "a circuit court may, on its own motion or at the request of any party, in any criminal case . . . permit the use of videoconferencing technology in any pre-trial, trial or fact-finding, or post-trial proceeding." Under section 885.60(2)(b), the "proponent of a witness via videoconferencing technology at any evidentiary hearing, trial, or fact-finding hearing" must notify the opposing party 20 days before the hearing.

If the State objects to the defendant's motion for a witness's testimony via videoconferencing, "the court shall determine the objection in the exercise of its discretion under the criteria set forth in s. 885.56." Wis. Stat. § 885.60(2)(c).

Wisconsin Stat. § 885.56(1) provides that "the circuit court may consider one or more" criteria listed in sec. 885.56(1)(a)–(k). As argued, *infra* Section D., several of these statutory factors apply in Atwater's case:

(b) Whether the proponent of the use of videoconferencing technology has been unable, after a diligent effort, to procure the physical presence of a witness.

Case 2019AP001977 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-18-2020 Page 19 of 25

(c) The convenience of the parties and the proposed witness, and the cost of producing the witness in person in relation to the importance of the offered testimony.

- (d) Whether the procedure would allow for full and effective cross-examination, especially when the cross-examination would involve documents or other exhibits.
- (e) The importance of the witness being personally present in the courtroom where the dignity, solemnity, and decorum of the surroundings will impress upon the witness the duty to testify truthfully.

Wis. Stat. § 885.56(1). In addition, the circuit court may consider "[a]ny other factors that the court may in each individual case determine to be relevant." Wis. Stat. § 885.56(1)(L).

However, a party has no right to appeal the circuit court's decision denying the use of video technology. Wisconsin Stat. § 885.56(2) unequivocally provides, "The denial of the use of videoconferencing technology is not appealable."

While sec. 885.60(2) confers discretion on a circuit court to receive testimony through videoconferencing, Atwater might still argue that the circuit court could have allowed trial counsel's testimony under sec. 807.13(2) based on sec. 972.11(1). (Atwater's Br. 14–15.) Atwater's analysis of sec. 972.11(1) ignores its last sentence: "Chapters 885 to 895 and 995, except ss. 804.02 to 804.07 and 887.23 to 887.26, shall apply in all criminal proceedings." Wis. Stat. § 972.11(1).

In *State v. Wilson*, 2017 WI 63, 376 Wis. 2d 92, 896 N.W.2d 682, the supreme court provided guidance on how to interpret sec. 972.11(1) when the more general rules of civil procedure and a provision in ch. 885 conflict. In *Wilson*, the court addressed whether Wis. Stat. §§ 801.11 and 805.07 or Wis. Stat. § 885.03, which concern procedures for substitute

Case 2019AP001977 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-18-2020 Page 20 of 25

service of subpoenas, applied in criminal cases. *Wilson*, 376 Wis. 2d 92, ¶¶ 25–29. The supreme court determined that sec. 972.11(1)'s explicit reference to ch. 885 makes "the more specific textual provision. In contrast, the rules of civil procedure are only generally applied to criminal cases through Wis. Stat. § 972.11(1). Thus, service of a witness subpoena in a criminal proceeding is controlled by Wis. Stat. § 885.03, rather than by the rules of civil procedure." *Wilson*, 376 Wis. 2d 92, ¶ 36.

Similarly, by operation of 972.11(1), sec. 885.60(2) is more specific than sec. 807.13(2), a rule of civil procedure. Therefore, sec. 885.60(2), and not sec. 807.13(2), guides a circuit court's determination of whether to allow a witness to appear other than in person in a criminal case.

D. Even if this Court construed Atwater's motion as a request for videoconferencing technology under Wis. Stat. § 885.60, the circuit court properly denied Atwater's request, and its decision is not appealable.

Because sec. 885.60 applies to "any pre-trial, trial or fact-finding, or post-trial proceeding" in a criminal case, Atwater could have moved the circuit court to allow videoconferencing to facilitate the litigation of his postconviction motion under Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.30(2)(h) and § 974.02. Wis. Stat. § 885.60(1). And further, because sec. 885.60(2) allows a party to present a witness's testimony through videoconferencing "at any evidentiary hearing" in a criminal case, Atwater could have asked to present trial counsel's testimony through videoconferencing at his *Machner* hearing.

But even if Atwater had properly invoked sec. 885.60(2)(b) when he requested that trial counsel be allowed to appear by telephone, Atwater cannot prevail on appeal.

The circuit court's decision to deny the use of videoconferencing for trial counsel's testimony "is not appealable." Wis. Stat. § 885.56(2). Atwater might suggest that this sanction should not apply because the motion was not litigated under sec. 885.60(2). But this was Atwater's fault because he moved to admit trial counsel's testimony under sec. 807.13, a provision that does not generally apply to criminal cases. And under the invited error doctrine, this Court generally does not review an issue on appeal when the appellant invited error in the circuit court. *In re Support of C.L.F.*, 2007 WI App 6, ¶ 15, 298 Wis. 2d 333, 727 N.W.2d 334.

Second, even if the circuit court's denial were appealable, this Court would affirm. Atwater's request and the prosecutor's response were consistent with sec. 885.60(2)'s framework.<sup>5</sup> Atwater identified several reasons, consistent with sec. 885.56(1)'s criteria, for allowing trial counsel's and the inmates' testimony, including trial counsel's convenience, the costs of producing the witness associated with her travel expenses, and the court's ability to adequately assess trial counsel's credibility by telephone. (R. 71:1–2.) In a supporting brief, Atwater again identified several factors that supported taking trial counsel's testimony by telephone, including the absence of surprise, the logistics and costs of procuring trial counsel's appearance, the convenience to trial counsel, and

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